IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CHARLESTON, WEST VIRGINIA CHARLESTON

---

No. 32901

---

MARY ROSE

Plaintiff, Appellee

vs.

BILLY WAYNE DUNLAP

Defendant, Appellant

---

APPELLANT BRIEF

---

Billy Wayne Dunlap, Pro Se  
2891 New Hanover Sq. Rd.  
Gilbertsville PA 19525  
Telephone 610-326-2918

Friday, January 6, 2006

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CHARLESTON, WEST VIRGINIA CHARLESTON

MARY ROSE

Plaintiff, Appellee

v.

BILLY WAYNE DUNLAP

Defendant, Appellant

No. 32901

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Now comes Defendant, Billy Wayne Dunlap, Appellant's Brief pursuant to Rule 28 of the West Virginia Supreme court of Appeals, Rules of Appellate Procedure.

A. Background: On October 1, 1999, the Circuit Court of Randolph County, the Honorable John L. Herring, issued charges against Plaintiff, Mary Rose, for inappropriate sexual contact of the minor daughter, Serena Rose Dunlap. Testimony included an admission from the Plaintiff that her daughter had touched her husband's penis and essentially she saw nothing wrong with that. Plaintiff also testified concerning her and her husband's nudist lifestyle. The courts granted a change of custody and scheduled an expedited hearing before the Family Law Master to address the issues of visitation for the Plaintiff and her obligation to pay child support. On the May 7, 2003, a court order was issued establishing permanent child custody to the Defendant.

On August 16, 2004, a Final Order was granted even though the Defendant was unable to take part in the hearing. The Family Court was made aware of Defendant's reasons for late arrival due to unforeseen traffic and construction encountered from Pennsylvania to Elkins, West Virginia, specifically outside of Peterstown, West Virginia. Plaintiff's counsel, Charles Phelan, acting as official representative of the court in this case (who prepared orders for the Family

Court Justice and also coordinated the Family Court schedule) was also notified by Defendant of Defendant's late arrival. Without Defendant's consent, Charles Phalen submitted Defendant's working draft copy of his proposed parenting plan as evidence to the Court.

The Court proceeded with the hearing with complete disregard of these facts and, therefore, Defendant and Counsel Pro Se was unable to present his final individual parenting plan to the court and additional data in regard to visitation issues. The hearing was scheduled from 1:30pm to 4:00pm on August 16, 2004. The Defendant and witness arrived at 2:10pm and upon arrival, Defendant attempted to attend the hearing with Judge Wilfong. The Defendant was met by the bailiff who indicated that the Judge would not speak to Defendant. This delay by the bailiff lasted fifteen minutes in the reception area. It was indicated to Defendant, who has been Counsel Pro Se throughout these proceedings, by the bailiff that only attorneys could speak to the Judge, even though Defendant informed the bailiff he was Counsel Pro Se in this case. Since Defendant had requested two and one half hours of the court's time and considering how long it has taken for these issues to come to formal hearing, it would have behooved the court and Plaintiff's counsel to delay the hearing for the forty-five minutes requested by Defendant via telephone.

In the Status Order dated March 17, 2004, it was indicated, "the Court will set the matter for an all day hearing on or before June 30, 2004." In addition, the Court indicated that this would be a formal hearing, unlike the previous conference calls, so that the Defendant and Plaintiff could present witnesses. A witness accompanied the Defendant to the formal hearing on that day. The action taken by the Family Court Judge to expedite the case and put this order in place took less than 30 minutes. Defendant feels that the Judge took advantage of Defendant's requested lateness to bring this case to a conclusion. This case has been outstanding in the courts

since October of 1999 due to delays from the Family Court, Plaintiff and Plaintiff's Counsel. Plaintiff's changing of counsel three times has caused additional delays. On November 29, 2004, a hearing was held upon the Petition for Appeal with Judge Henning. Judge Henning directed the parties to meet immediately and attempt to negotiate the Plan. On January 26, 2005 the Defendant Billy Wayne Dunlap, pro se presented to the Supreme Court of Appeals Petition for Appeal and upon consideration whereof, the court is of opinion to and doth hereby grant said Petition of Appeal.

B. Ground One: Defendant who is the legal and permanent custodial parent of minor child, Serena Rose Dunlap, resides with Defendant in the state of Pennsylvania. Order entered on May 30, 2000, by the Family Law Master, ordered Plaintiff Mary Rose to pay One Hundred Ninety-Six and 25/100 (\$196.25) per month for the support, maintenance and education of the minor child, commencing on May 1, 2000. The court order was modified entered August 27, 2003 for Defendant to receive a total of One Hundred Thirty-One and 00/100 (\$131.00) per month commencing on July 1, 2003 in support of the child, Serena Rose Dunlap support payments to be received from Plaintiff.

Plaintiff is entitled to visitation with said child one weekend per month on the second or fourth weekends of every month beginning on Friday at 8:00 PM until Sunday at 6:00 PM. The Courts have placed a financial and health related hardship on the Defendant's family if required to meet in Shippensburg, Pennsylvania on a monthly basis during the school year. The exchange of said minor child should take place at the residence of the minor child and Defendant. As a service disabled veteran this extreme amount of travel is detrimental to Defendant's health. For one weekend the round trip distance is 688 miles at 44.5 cents (per IRS/Treasury Department Option standard mile rate for 2006) per mile which is \$306.16, plus \$32.00 for state tolls; thus,

the total cost is \$338.16 per weekend per month. The total hours of drive time per weekend is 15 hours. Also the cost of the exchange is more than the Plaintiff is providing in child support to the Defendant causing the Defendant to pay an additional \$207.16 per month out of pocket. This action does not allow for any monies to be used in the support, maintenance and education of minor child Serena Rose Dunlap. When minor child, Serena Rose Dunlap, was residing in West Virginia with Plaintiff, an order entered on January 5, 1998 of the Family Court of Randolph County, West Virginia stated that all exchanges of the minor child must be made in the state in which she was residing which was the state of West Virginia forcing the Defendant to bear all costs in regard to gas, time, tolls and accommodations in pursuit of the visitation of minor child Serena Rose Dunlap.

Relief Sought: Therefore, since the minor child resides with the legal custodial parent in the state of Pennsylvania and has for the past 6 years, the exchange of said minor child should be made at the permanent residence of the child which is the State of Pennsylvania and thus, would not cause any hardships for the child or Defendant. If the Defendant's resident location is not acceptable, then the Defendant is requesting that the Plaintiff's support payments be increased to offset the monthly visitation costs incurred by Defendant.

C. Ground Two: The Defendant Billy Wayne Dunlap is under and obligated to pay child support in the amount of Four Hundred and 00/100 (\$400.00) per month beginning on October 1997, pursuant to and order entered on January 5, 1998. The Court Order entered on May 30, 2002, indicated that Billy Wayne Dunlap's child support obligation terminated October 1, 1999 and that Mary Rose's child support obligation commenced on May 1, 2000. There is an inconsistency here. The child support obligation for Plaintiff Mary Rose should be effective the same date of October 1, 1999. The Court denied Defendant Billy Wayne Dunlap's request to

establish a child support obligation for Mary Rose for the period of October 1, 1999 through April 30, 2000.

A verbal agreement did exist and Defendant's child support payment funds were held by the Bureau for Child Support Enforcement and applied to the outstanding arrearages in this matter, and the remainder, if any, was refunded to the Defendant, Billy Wayne Dunlap. On May 13, 1999, based on the child support letter received from R. Mike Mullens, Defendant's attorney of record at the time, the money to be returned after deductions was \$3,000.00 and would bring Defendant's account current until June 1, 1999. On June 16, 1999, based on the letter received from R. Mike Mullens, Attorney, Defendant Billy Wayne Dunlap was informed that a Judge's Order was issued on the matter of the refund and also stated that since June 1, 1999 has passed, the refund would be \$3,200 and in late October 1999. Defendant Billy Wayne Dunlap received a check for \$2,059.00 less any arrears owed by the Defendant. If any monies were still owed at the time, the Child Support Enforcement would have applied it to any outstanding arrearages in this matter. There would be no arrearage due for either party since it was agreed that the three months would be suspended which was also stated in the court tapes since the Defendant had emergency custody of Serena Dunlap since June 25, 1999. Child Support compensation was also given to Plaintiff for seven months (October 1, 1999 to April 30, 2000) even though there was a verbal agreement made between all parties stating that the dollar amount during that time would offset each other and no further action was to be taken. However, in a Court Order entered on May 30, 2002, almost two years later, arrearages were applied to Defendant's assets for the three months while the Defendant had emergency custody of Serena Dunlap during that period. Also, no action was taken by the Courts to compensate the Defendant for the Plaintiff seven months of non-payment of support during the Family Law Master review of obligation of Plaintiff to pay

child support. On May 7, 2003 Defendant Billy Wayne Dunlap was ordered to paid arrearages from June 1999 through August 1999 in the amount of One Thousand Two Hundred Sixty-Two and 05/100 (\$1,262.05) and interest in the amount of Four Hundred Sixty-Two and 91/100 (\$462.91) for child support.

Relief Sought: Defendant is requesting that One Thousand Two Hundred Sixty-Two and 05/100 (\$1,262.05) in principal and all interest during the time of emergency custody be reimbursed back to Defendant totaling One thousand Seven Hundred Twenty-Four and 96/100 (\$1,724.96).

D. Ground Three: After the court hearing on November 29, 2004, with Judge Henning, a meeting took place with Charlie Phelan, attorney for plaintiff, Plaintiff Mary Rose and Defendant and Attorney Pro Se Billy Dunlap. At that time it was agreed that:

1) Telephone contact between the Plaintiff and child, Serena Rose Dunlap, can occur daily and should take place between 8:30PM until 9:00 PM during the weekdays and weekends.

2) If Plaintiff wants to visit with child, Serena Rose Dunlap, an additional weekend in the state of Pennsylvania, the cost of this trip will be the total responsibility of Plaintiff - i.e. expense and travel/tolls. During this meeting it was also agreed that Plaintiff Mary Rose must provide forty eight hour notice and since this visit would be an additional visit to the regularly scheduled monthly visit, if the Defendant has previous plans for the child at that particular time, then the visit could be denied. This was also left out of the order.

3) Defendant never agreed to meeting half way but only suggested a location for both parties to meet by reviewing Mapquest. Under the Order of the Court entered on December 22, 2004 the Defendant was forced to select Shippensburg, Pennsylvania as a mid point because of the excessive expense of tolls that Defendant would incur and the Plaintiff would not incur. Per

the court order, if the location is not acceptable to Defendant or Plaintiff, then the location reverts back to the original destination of Washington DC which was never agreed upon by Defendant. The Defendant has continually requested the pickup location for the minor child to be the custodial residence in the State of Pennsylvania which has been denied.

4) The visitation of grandparents with the child should be incorporated in the visitation times with either the Plaintiff or Defendant. The parties would adhere to the child's request for visitation with grandparents of either the Plaintiff or Defendant and it will become each party's responsibilities regarding costs for these visits. Grandparents and relatives in this plan have one week visitation timeframe during the summer vacation. Minor child, Serena Rose Dunlap, has visited with both sets of grandparents during the summer vacation months every summer since October 1999.

Relief Sought: Defendant is requesting that items one through four be incorporated into the final order.

E. Ground Four. The minor child, Serena Rose Dunlap, is allowed to sleep in the same household with Plaintiff's husband, Charles Rose under the supervision of Plaintiff, Mary Rose, who has previously admitted to watching the inappropriate sexual contact between minor child and the Plaintiff's husband. With respect to Charles Rose "not to be left alone at any time" with Serena Rose Dunlap, the Defendant has concerns even today with the Plaintiff's ability to supervise minor children. Defendant is aware that Plaintiff has allowed minor child, Serena Rose Dunlap, to go unsupervised into deep ocean water and as a result of such incident, a life guard had to rescue said minor child. In another occurrence, less than one year ago, Plaintiff allowed two minor teenage children to sleep in the same bed who then engaged in sexual conduct while Plaintiff and Plaintiff's husband were in the next room sleeping. Also, Plaintiff has asked

the minor child, Serena Rose Dunlap, to lie to Defendant on numerous occasions regarding Plaintiff's unannounced and unapproved surprise visits while minor child was visiting with minor child's Grandmother. The Defendant has been informed that the Plaintiff has had discussions on several occasions with other minor and adult relatives relating to Serena Rose Dunlap's conception that is extremely inflammatory and damaging to the Defendant. Since the Circuit Court of Randolph County, West Virginia, the Honorable John L. Herring, concluded on October 1, 1999, and issued charges against Plaintiff, Mary Rose, for inappropriate sexual contact of the minor daughter, Serena Rose Dunlap; testimony which included an admission from the Plaintiff that her daughter had touched her husband, Charles Rose's penis and essentially stating that she saw nothing wrong with that particular act. Plaintiff also testified regarding her and her husband's nudist lifestyle. The Circuit Court found, therefore, that there was inappropriate sexual contact between said child and the Plaintiff's husband. The Circuit Court and Family Court has now ordered in the Final Order dated December 22, 2004, that Charles Rose can have physical contact with the minor child, Serena Rose Dunlap, and minor child is allowed in the company of Charles Rose, without supervision other than the Plaintiff. This provides no safe or controlled environment for minor child. Defendant's minor child, Serena Rose Dunlap has reported during visits to Plaintiff's residence that there is no consistent running water having to depend on rain water collection only and that the only sleeping arrangement for minor child is a bunk bed in the same small room with minor child's 9 year old half brother. There is no privacy provided to the minor female child as she is starting to mature. The Defendant fears for the health and safety of body and mind of Defendant's minor child, Serena Rose Dunlap.

Relief Sought: The Defendant is requesting the right to have the West Virginia Child Protection Services supervise and allow monitoring the household on random checks while the minor child is visiting with the non-custodial parent in West Virginia.

F. Ground Five: Also, during all requested visitation to West Virginia, Plaintiff is employed full time and not at home for 8 – 10 hours during the day or night depending on shift. The Family Court has not defined the level of maturity or age of the person who can supervise the minor child, Serena Rose Dunlap, while Plaintiff is not present and the minor child is possibly in the company of Charles Rose, Plaintiff's husband.

Relief Sought: The Defendant is requesting the level of maturity or age of the person who can supervise be 21 years of age or older and the right to have the West Virginia Child Protection Services supervise and allow monitoring the household on random checks while the minor child is visiting with the non-custodial parent in West Virginia.

G. Ground Six: There is nothing stated in the Order that requires or confirms that a babysitter that oversees minor child Serena Rose Dunlap has been approved through Child Protective Services or the West Virginia Police to ensure that minor child is being safeguarded.

Relief Sought: The Defendant is requesting the level of maturity or age of the person who can supervise be 21 years of age or older and the right to have the West Virginia Child Protection Services approve and monitoring the babysitter providing random checks while the minor child is being supervised in West Virginia while non-custodial parent is at work. Also, babysitters that oversee minor child Serena Rose Dunlap must provide evidence of police check or state licenses.

H. Ground Seven: The Family Court's Orders entered September 02, 2004 and entered May 20, 2003 disregarded procedure by not providing a formal written response to Defendant's Objection. Defendant Billy Wayne Dunlap had requested that Plaintiff Mary Rose reimburse

Defendant for the cost of his court ordered psychological evaluation. The Circuit Court of Randolph County did not require a psychological evaluation of the Defendant and only scheduled a hearing before the Family Law Master to address the issues of visitation for the Plaintiff and her obligation to pay child support. Plaintiff requested the court to order a psychological evaluation from Defendant; and Plaintiff indicated that she would pay for the evaluation. The court tapes will support that fact. No action was taken by the Family Court to review the court tapes to support this allegation. The psychological evaluation was requested in support of Plaintiff Mary Rose's appeal to the Supreme Court of Appeals which was denied and was an unnecessary expense placed on the Defendant. Plaintiff Mary Rose testified that she underwent at least one (1) psychological evaluation as part of the custody dispute and bore the cost of the evaluation herself although she failed to state that this action was taken because of the previous threat to the child regarding inappropriate sexual contact and was ordered by Child Protective Services. No documentation was provided to support the fact that Plaintiff paid for said evaluation.

Relief Sought: Defendant is requesting that 100% of the cost of the Defendant's psychological evaluation be paid in the amount of One Thousand Eight One and 70/100 (\$1,081.70) to be reimbursed to Defendant.

I. Ground Eight: On May 7, 2003 Defendant Billy Wayne Dunlap provided documentation to the court that showed that Plaintiff owes him One Thousand Nine Hundred Fifty-Eight and 49/100 (\$1,958.49) in medical expenses for the expenses for the child that were not paid or covered by the insurance company for the period of 1999 and 2001. Medical expenses claimed by Billy Wayne Dunlap are for the cost of medical insurance provided by Barbara Dunlap, Defendant's wife, which the court finds as a non-reimbursable expense.