NO.: 32901

IN THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

In Re:

ARGUMENT AND DISCUSSION OF LAW

It should first be noted that Appellant argues court errors in orders that were made for the past eight years, some of which were appealed to the circuit court shortly after entry, and therefore, are not appealed in a timely manner. However, the Appellee will address the issues as presented in Appellant's brief.

I. THE COURT'S DECISIONS REGARDING CHILD SUPPORT AND VISITATION WERE NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS

Appellant first argues that the court erred by lowering Appellee's child support obligation in light of the costs incurred in the visitation exchange of the child. Appellant argues that for the one weekend per month that he is required to meet Appellee to exchange the child, he incurs \$338.16 in costs, and the child support he receives from Appellee is only \$131.00 a month, requiring him to incur out-of-pocket expenses. Appellant argues that the court should either require the Appellee to pay child support equal to the travel expense incurred or move the exchange point to his residence so that he incurs no cost or time for the exchange of the child.

The Court's decision was not clearly erroneous because the decisions were based on the evidence presented to the court. The May 30, 2000, order states that the decisions made in that order are based upon the arguments of counsel at the hearing and the financial information presented as evidence to the court. The Court required Appellee to

pay \$196.25 per month in child support to the Appellant based on the financial information supplied.

The Appellee then filed a Petition for Modification of the child support, in which the court held a hearing on August 18, 2003, where the parties again presented financial evidence. Based on the child support guidelines for the monthly gross income reported, the court then lowered Appellee's obligation to \$131.00 per month. Since the calculation of support was based on financial information provided and the court followed the child support guidelines, the modification of support was not clearly erroneous.¹ Moreover, Randolph County Family Court is the proper venue for a modification of child support, not this Court.

Since the child support modification was not clearly erroneous, the next issue is that of the location of the exchange of the child. Appellant argues that a prior family court order stated that the exchange should be made in the state in which the child resides, which is now Pennsylvania. However, he requests that the exchange not only be made in Pennsylvania, which is the state of the exchange at the current time, but should be his residence in Pennsylvania. He supports this argument by stating that the cost incurred is too high and it is too much of a health detriment for him to drive to the meeting location since he is a disabled veteran. However, Appellant failed to inform the court that the drive to the drop-off point is shorter than the drive he frequently makes to his office located in Washington, D.C.

Appellant's "disability" does not keep him from sustaining employment or driving longer distances, evidenced by his frequent trips to Washington, D.C. for

¹ Appellant did not appeal the Family Court's August 27, 2004, order modifying the child support.

employment, yet he cites this “disability” as a reason to have the location moved to his residence so that he bears no responsibility, financial or otherwise, in the exchange of his daughter with the Appellee who is also incurring costs in this exchange.

The January 5, 1998, order entered by the Circuit Court of Randolph County, incorporates the agreement concerning custody, visitation, child support and other obligations. That order ratified the October 2, 1997, agreement entered into by BOTH parties concerning visitation. Appellant entered into that agreement voluntarily and did not object to the court ratifying that agreement². Nowhere in that order does the court state that all exchanges of the minor child must be made in the state where the child resides. The agreement may have included that statement, but the court order is completely devoid of that language.

The 1998 agreement is important here because Appellant made the agreement at that time to the visitation and exchange of the child, in which he now complains. Then, after appeal of the family court’s decision that the proper location for exchange be Washington, D.C.³, Appellant again entered into an agreement where he agreed that the “transfer of the child for visitation shall occur at a point halfway between the two homes as determined by the use of Map Quest.” *Order Adopting Revised Agreed Parenting Plan*, ¶ 9 (entered December 21, 2004). It is clear that the Appellant agreed to the exchange point that he now alleges the court erred in adopting because of the undue

² Even though the agreement was not attached to the order, it can be assumed that the visitation exchange point was West Virginia, since the Appellant now complains that he incurred costs at that time to visit his daughter so it should be only fair that the Appellee drive to him now.

³ The Family Court reviewed parenting plans submitted by both parties and decided the exchange point based on both submissions and did not adopt either parenting plan as a whole.

burden on him. Since the court was merely adopting the agreement signed by the parties, its decision to do so cannot be clearly erroneous.

Appellant argues that the exchange point is a financial burden to him but fails to take the income differences into consideration between he and the Appellee. Based on the court records, it is clear that Appellant earns more money than Appellee. The exchange point is a financial burden for the Appellee, but she is satisfied with accepting that burden to visit with her daughter. Appellant will not be satisfied until Appellee is ordered to travel the whole distance to Appellant's house for exchange of the child, where he has no burden or responsibility. Moreover, Appellant fails to consider that requiring Appellee to travel the whole distance would significantly shorten the visitation time not spent traveling between Appellee and her daughter.

II. APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO REIMBURSEMENT FOR CHILD SUPPORT

Appellant argues that his child support obligation terminated in October 1999 and Appellee's support obligation did not begin until May 2000, and that decision was in error since it was inconsistent. Appellant argues that the Appellee's obligation should have commenced on the date of his termination. The court's decision was not clearly erroneous because it was based on the time the matter was placed before the court and the financial obligation presented at that time.

Appellant entered into an agreement, as previously stated, concerning child support among other obligations, which was ratified and adopted by the court in the January 5, 1998, order. Then on June 15, 1999, the Court found that the Appellant, as of February 1, 1999, was in arrearages and that the money BCSE was holding was to be

applied to the arrearages and any remaining money was to be refunded to the Appellant. The Court then found that as of February 28, 1999, Appellant was current on his support. Custody of the minor child did not change hands until October 1, 1999. At least two hearings were held in this matter after custody changed and Appellant never petitioned the court for child support from Appellee. It wasn't until May 10, 2000, that the support issue was brought before the court. The court then ordered Appellee to pay \$196.25 to have commenced on May 1, 2003, and thereby terminated the Appellant's obligation to pay support to Appellee.

Appellant argues that the court erred by ordering the support to commence May 1, 2003, instead of October 1, 1999. What Appellant fails to realize is that until that order was entered, even though he was granted emergency custody in October 1999, he was still under a court order to pay child support to the Appellee. Not until the May 10, 2003, hearing was the obligation terminated and given to the Appellee. At the time of the change of custody, it was unknown how much time would pass before the custody would return to Appellee. Therefore, the court did not take action to modify the support at the time the custody changed. It was not until the court was convinced that custody would not change in the near future, and from motion of the Appellant, did the court take action. Since Appellant was under the obligation to pay from October 1999 until the court order in May 2003 terminating the same, requiring Appellee to pay retroactively would have counter-acted the payment obligation by Appellant. One obligation could not start until the first obligation was terminated.⁴ Since the court was not petitioned for support until the May 10, 2000, hearing, and the obligation for support during that time was still incumbent upon the Appellant, the court's decision to commence the support on May 1,

⁴ Appellant failed to file an appeal to circuit court on this matter, also.

2000, instead of October 1, 1999, was not clearly erroneous based upon the facts presented to the lower court at that time.

It was also not clearly erroneous that the court ordered Appellant to pay the arrearages accumulating from October 1999 to April 2000 because he was under court-ordered obligation to pay. The court did not terminate his obligation to pay until May 10, 2000, leaving him obligated to pay for the prior months regardless of custody. Moreover, the court heard the argument that the Appellee's obligation should be retroactive to October 1999, and the court denied that request based on the evidence presented. Therefore, the May 21, 2003, order requiring arrearages was proper and should be upheld.

Appellant argues that a verbal agreement existed whereas no support money would be due during the three months Appellant had emergency custody and that separate, underlying matter was before another court. Appellant attempts to support this argument by alleging the existence of letters from his attorney, which are not attached as exhibits, which the Appellee has no knowledge. The only documents pertinent to this matter are the court records and orders, which clearly give finding of facts based upon arguments of the parties and evidence presented. Therefore, the court's order should stand as the decisions therein were not clearly erroneous.

Appellant argues that had he been in arrearages, it would have been deducted from the amount BCSE was holding before it refunded the remainder. However, the

court, in a prior order as stated above, found that on February 28, 1999, the Appellant was current in support. These arrearages did not even become due until April 2000.⁵

III. THE ORDER ADOPTING REVISED AGREED PARENTING PLAN WAS PROPERLY ADOPTED BY THE COURT

The Appellant argues that the *Order Adopting Revised Agreed Parenting Plan* was improperly adopted by the circuit court because it allegedly was devoid of the items stated in his brief: telephone contact between the child and Appellee; additional visitation; exchange location; and grandparent visitation. He requests that his version of the agreement be placed in the final order.

The first item Appellant wishes to change or add to the order is telephonic visitation between Appellee and the minor child. Upon reviewing that order, it is clear that in paragraph two, Appellee is granted unlimited telephone access with the child so long as the call is initiated at or before 8:30 p.m. and concluded by 9:00 p.m. Since the order states exactly what the Appellant is arguing, Appellee fails to see why the order was improperly adopted or should be modified on this point.

Appellant's second contention of error is the additional weekend of visitation. He requests the order be modified to add the language that the Appellee is solely responsible for the expense of the visitation and be required to give 48 hours notice to Appellant of the desired visit.

The order states in paragraph four that Appellee shall be entitled to an additional weekend visit **in the State of Pennsylvania** so long as she gives at least 48 hours notice

⁵ Appellant filed two appeals on this issue. The first appeal was denied for failure to state a claim in which an appeal could be heard. The second appeal was denied for filing the appeal outside of the required time frame.

to Appellant. The emphasis here is on the additional visit being in Pennsylvania, requiring the Appellee to drive to Appellant's residence to pick up and drop off the minor child since the visitation is to be held within that state. The lack of the particular language that Appellee is responsible for all costs incurred in the additional visit does not warrant reversing or modifying the order as it stands. Appellant is not ordered to meet the Appellee halfway for this visit, nor is he burdened in any other way. The order states the basis of the agreement, and since Appellant did not object to the language of the order at the time, it should be upheld.

Appellant next contends that he never agreed to meeting halfway to exchange the child. He argues that he only suggested a location to be decided by reviewing Map Quest. He alleges that the court has unfairly ordered him to choose Shippensburg, PA, as the exchange location, when it should be some other location less financially burdensome for him. He alleges that he also never agreed to the "back-up" destination being Washington, D.C., even though he alleges the court has ordered that destination, and that the appropriate exchange location should be his residence, which the court has repeatedly denied.⁶

Again, it should be noted that Appellant entered into the agreement held on November 29, 2004, freely and voluntarily. The order adopting the agreement evidences the actual factual agreements made at that time. This agreement, similar to a separation agreement in family law, is to be adopted by the court as long as it cannot be found that the agreement was obtained by fraud or duress. *See W.Va. Code §48-6-201* (2005). It is also similar to a civil contract that is to be ratified and adopted by a court where it is clear

⁶ The issue of the exchange location occurring at the Appellant's residence has been argued above and will not be reiterated.

that the agreement is not unconscionable and the terms evidence the parties' intent. Appellant freely entered into this contract and negotiated his terms freely and voluntarily. Appellant was not forced to agree to unconscionable terms, nor was he under any duress to agree to the terms as stated. The agreement was made by both parties and presented to the court as the final agreement between the parties. Therefore, the court adopted the agreement, as it evidenced the negotiated terms and the meeting of the minds of these two people. Therefore, the court really had no other option under the law but to adopt this agreement to bind the parties and the court to the terms thereof.

The order states in paragraph nine that the transfer of the child shall occur at a halfway point between the two homes as determined by MapQuest. The order adopting the agreement, however, does not provide Washington, D.C., as a back-up exchange point.⁷ The court based the location of the exchange point as halfway between the two parties' residences. That decision was based upon the agreement reached between the parties, not the court's own discretion, evidence by the lack of a named location. The court adopted the agreement as provided by the parties, and left the actual destination up to the parties to decide once the MapQuest search was completed and an equal halfway point, that satisfied both parties, could be located. The court adopted the agreement as it was presented, so the court did not err in adopting the agreement. As has been repeatedly stated, Appellant will simply not be satisfied until he has no responsibility in the exchange of the child.

⁷ There was a second order entered December 24, 2004, the same day as the *Order Adopting Revised Agreed Parenting Plan*, that stated that the court adopted the findings of the family court **except** the finding that the exchanges for visitation be at a halfway point instead of Washington, D.C. The order did not adopt four findings from the lower court because the court required the parties to negotiate a new parenting plan, ergo the order adopting the revised parenting plan.

The final contention of modification argued is that of grandparent visitation. Appellant argues that grandparent visitation should occur while each party has responsibility of the child instead of making separate visitation times for the grandparents. This issue was not raised in the negotiation of the revised parenting plan. Appellant has failed to raise this issue in any prior agreement negotiations or court proceeding. If Appellant desires this issue to be negotiated, Appellee is willing to entertain negotiations on the subject. Since this issue has not been previously raised, the court did not err by failing to provide any grandparent visitation in the order. There is no claim of legal error that would warrant overturning this order or remanding back to the lower court to make this provision modification. Therefore, since there again is no error proven, the court order should be affirmed.

IV. APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR CHILD PROTECTIVE SERVICES SUPERVISION SHOULD BE DENIED

Appellant is attempting to raise allegations of possible child abuse and neglect issues on this appeal. Appellant alleges that he has concerns with Appellee's supervisory capabilities and states unsubstantiated, slanderous allegations against Appellee. While this is not the proper forum for this type of allegation, it should be noted that Child Protective Services (CPS) has inspected the Appellee's home and family life, and has educated her husband concerning the sexual contact incident, and has given reports that the Appellee's home and family are appropriate for visitation by the minor child. If the Appellant fears for the child's safety, then he should report his fears to the proper authorities, which is not this court.

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